# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,915

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

FILED
SIDJ. WHITE
JUN 7 1996

CLERK,	QUPNEME	COURT
By	tef Dosuty Sic	ofk

JAMES McINNIS,

Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI REVIEW

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA

Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510

SARAH B. MAYER

Assistant Attorney General 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759 FAX (407) 688-7771

Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, James McInnis, was the Defendant; Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution, in the Criminal Division of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Respondent was the Appellant and Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Court except that Petitioner will also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

#### Jurisdictional Statement

The Fourth District certified two questions as being of great public importance:

DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?

IF SO, IS SUCH AN INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

(Exhibit B). Thus, the first issue in this case is whether a trial judge's unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt constitute fundamental error. This claim has been raised in at

least eighteen (18) cases, including:

David Jones v. State,
656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), (reversed)
rev. denied, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1995);

Bove v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D709 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>; questions certified);

Brown v. State, Case No. 95-3997 (pending);

<u>Cifuentes v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D77 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 3, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>);

Davis v. State, Case No. 95-0300 (pending);

Frazier v. State, 664 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995),
(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>), rev. denied, Case No. 86,543
(Fla. Dec. 19, 1995);

Jones v. State, 662 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995),
(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>);
rev. denied, Case No. 86,359 (Fla. Nov. 17, 1995);

Lusskin v. State, Case No. 95-0721 (pending);

McInnis v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>) (THE INSTANT CASE) question certified, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242 (Fla. 4th DCA Apr. 17, 1996), <u>decision on jurisdiction postponed</u>, <u>McInnis v. State</u>, No. 87,915 (Fla. May 10, 1996);

<u>Pierce v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D629 (Fla. 4th DCA March 13, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>);

Poole v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D245 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan.
24, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>);

Rayfield v. State, 664 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>), <u>rev. denied</u>, \_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_ (Fla. Nov. 17, 1995);

Reyes v. State, Case No. 95-0034 (pending);

Rodriguez v. State, Case No. 95-0749 (pending);

Smith v. State, Case No. 95-1636 (pending);

Variance v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D79 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan.
31, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>); and

Wilson v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D37 (Fla. 4th DCA Dec.
20, 1995) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>), <u>jurisdiction accepted</u>,
State v. Wilson, No. 87,575 (Fla. March 20, 1996).

The trial judge in the <u>Wilson</u> and <u>Jones</u>, cases had been making these preliminary comments for many years. Not surprisingly, this issue is also being raised in post-conviction motions. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Tricarico v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (trial court case no. 91-8232 CF10).

Obviously, some of theses cases may be difficult to retry. A great number of victims are affected by these cases. Smith involves convictions for kidnaping, extortion, impersonating a police officer and burglary. Pierce involves the killing of a young child. Lusskin involves a conviction for solicitation to commit first degree murder. Bove is a first degree murder case. Rodriguez is an attempted first degree murder case. Tricarico is a first degree murder case.

In the instant case, the Fourth District found the comments of a different trial judge to be fundamental error under <u>Jones</u>. In <u>Smith</u>, a third judge's comments are being challenged as impermissible under <u>Jones</u>. In <u>Brown</u>, likewise a fourth judge's

comments are being challenged as impermissible under <u>Jones</u>. This issue is unquestionably one of great public importance, and must be resolved by this Court so as to correct the Fourth District's farreaching misapplication of the law as soon as possible.

Petitioner urges this Court to review the issue raised below by Respondent, and ruled upon by the District Court's opinion at bar.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged with one count of grand theft (R 417-418). He was convicted as charged and sentenced to 5 years incarceration with credit for 525 days as time served (R 383, 422, 425-426)<sup>1</sup>.

The judge presiding over Respondent's trial was the Honorable Charles M. Greene, Circuit Court Judge in and for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. Prior to the venire being seated, the trial judge discussed with counsel the procedures for jury selection, what instructions he would be giving, and what instructions counsel wanted the court to give (R 15-32). The trial judge stated:

I'll give the jury the entire reasonable doubt instruction.

Explain to the jury what the standard of proof is in a criminal case, beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt; it's not a fraction, it's not absolute proof, but it's certainly nothing less than proof beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt.

I'll give them a couple examples of that, that the burden being on the State the defendant can be presumed innocent.

(R 18). Respondent did not object to the trial court's proposed procedure.

As Respondent did not challenge any aspect of his conviction except the trial court's preliminary comments, Petitioner submits that no recitation of the evidence as presented to the jury is necessary for this Court's review of this case.

After the venire was seated, Judge Greene instructed the jury venire, prior to jury selection, with introductory comments, as an overview of a typical criminal trial (R 47-75); the trial court gave its initial instructions to the panel, which instructions included the standard reasonable doubt instruction (R 68-69), and the trial court's examples and/or illustrations of reasonable doubt (R 70-74). During his preliminary remarks, in addition to the passages quoted by the Fourth District in its opinion on rehearing in this case (Exhibit B), the trial court repeatedly told the prospective jurors that the State had the burden of proving the defendant guilty and that the State had to do so beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt (R 66, 67, 68-69, 70). Contrary to the District Court's opinion, as part of these preliminary remarks, the trial court did read the complete standard instruction on reasonable doubt to the venire (R 68-69). The trial court emphasized that the State's burden was a heavy one: "And certainly nothing less than that either. There is no lesser burden before someone can be found guilty." (R 71). Respondent did not object to these instructions.

As part of the charge to the jury before they retired to deliberate, the trial judge gave the actual sworn jury the complete, approved, standard jury instructions on reasonable doubt

as follows:

Now, whenever the words reasonable doubt are used, you must consider the following. A reasonable doubt is not a possible doubt, a speculative, imaginary or forced doubt. Such a doubt must not influence you to return a verdict of not guilty if in fact you have an abiding conviction of guilt.

On the other hand, if after carefully considering, comparing and weighing all the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt, or if having a conviction, it is one which is not stable, but one which wavers and vacillates, then the charge has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty because the doubt is reasonable.

It is to the evidence introduced in this trial and to it alone that you are to look for that proof. A reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendant may arise from the evidence, a conflict in the evidence, or the lack of evidence.

If you have a reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, then you should find him guilty.

(R 363-364). The trial court instructed the jury that they had to base their verdict solely on the evidence and the final instructions (R 364, 366, 367, 369), and gave the jury written copies of the instructions given (R 360, 374). Appellant did not object to the instructions as given (R 370, 373-374).

As concluding remarks, the trial court reminded the jury, "it's important that you follow the law spelled out in these instructions, in deciding your verdict. There are no other laws

apply to this case." (R 369).

Respondent appealed his conviction to the District Court, raising as his sole issue the trial court's alleged fundamental error in deviating from the standard instructions on reasonable doubt. In its opinion filed January 24, 1996, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, found the trial court's preliminary remarks to the venire to amount to 'minimization of the reasonable doubt standard' which "deprived McInnis of his defense (reliance on this standard)", and therefore, fundamental error." McInnis v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D243 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996) (Exhibit A).

The State moved the District Court for Certification of Question and a Stay of Mandate. On April 17, 1996, the District Court issued its opinion "On Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, and Motion for Certification of Conflict and Certification of Questions". McInnis v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D934b (Fla. 4th DCA Apr. 17, 1996) (Exhibit B). The District Court granted the motion in part and certified the following as a question of great public importance:

DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?

IF SO, IS SUCH AN INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL

## ERROR?

(Exhibit B).

Based on the certified question, the State invoked the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court, and by order issued May 10, 1996, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction of this case, and set a briefing schedule.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The challenged comments, which occurred only at the preliminary stage of trial, were made to the venire prior to jury selection, and when considered in the entire context of the introduction, were accurate. Further, when the comments are considered together with the charge given to the jury which was ultimately selected just prior to their deliberations, if any error occurred, it was thereby cured. The challenged comment did not impermissibly reduce the reasonable doubt standard below the protection of the due process clause, thus Respondent is not entitled to a new trial. Therefore, the certified questions should be answered in the negative; the District Court's opinion quashed, and the conviction affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FUNDAMENTALLY ERR IN MAKING THE INTRODUCTORY COMMENTS TO THE JURY VENIRE PRIOR TO THE SELECTION OF THE JURY, WHEN THE APPROVED STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON REASONABLE DOUBT WAS FULLY READ TO THE JURY DURING THE INSTRUCTIONS TO THE BEFORE THE JURY RETIRED TO IMMEDIATELY DELIBERATE.

The Fourth District certified two questions as being of great public importance:

DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?

IF SO, IS SUCH AN INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

(Exhibit B). Thus, the first issue in this case is whether a trial judge's unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt constitute fundamental error. Petitioner will address each question separately:

DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTION OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?

Relying on its decision in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), <u>rev. denied</u>, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1995), the District Court granted Appellant a new trial. The District Court reasoned that the comments made by the trial court to the jury

panel prior to jury selection, i.e. "that the state did not have to prove its case to perfection or certainty", amounted to a minimization of the reasonable doubt standard. Here, as in Jones, wherein the District Court cited Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 111 S. Ct. 328, 112 L. Ed. 2d 339 (1990), the District Court found the instruction to be fundamental error. In the case at bar, however, the District Court, ignoring the fact that just prior to the allegedly improper comments, the trial court read to the venire the complete, standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt (R 68-69), and found that no balancing instructions had been given because the standard instructions were not given until just prior to the jury's retiring to deliberate. McInnis v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996).

A review of the record, clearly demonstrates that the "instructions" [as categorized by the District Court] were made by the trial judge as **preliminary**, introductory comments, or as an overview of a typical criminal trial (R 47-75, 70-74). And more importantly, the comments were made to the entire jury venire, **prior** to jury selection (R 68-74).

During this overview, the trial court introduced himself (R 47), and explained to the jury how a criminal trial is conducted in general as well as in his courtroom (R 47-66). The judge

discussed the importance of serving as a juror (R 47-54), the daily routine and schedule (R 54-55), introduced the court personnel and described their functions (R 55-57), explained about voir dire (R 60-62), and proceeded to read and explain the significance (or lack of significance) of the information (R 62-65). The judge informed the jury of the defendant's presumption of innocence, and defined the State's burden of proof, repeatedly stressing that the State was required to prove its charges beyond a reasonable doubt (R 66-71). As part of these instructions, the trial court read to the jury the complete standard instruction on reasonable doubt (R 68-69). The judge then made the following statements:

You understand what I just told you is that the State has to prove the charges beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt before Mr. McInnis may be found guilty.

The State is not required to prove these charges absolutely, or 100 percent, or perfectly to you, because as human beings we know one thing, unless we see and experienced something ourselves we can never be that sure in our own minds of what's occurred.

Any time we have to listen to what someone else tells us occurred we can always have a doubt. We can always imagine. We can never be 100 percent sure of anything.

But a jury can never be as sure of what you saw as you the witness were, and that's why the law does not require that the State prove its case to perfection, or certainty, or 100 percent, but they must prove the case beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt.

And certainly nothing less than that either. There is no lesser burden before someone can be found guilty, now as I started to do I've instructed you on some of the issues of law that's applicable to the case, and to any criminal case.

(R 70-71). The judge then continued by giving an example of what analysis, i.e. weighing evidence, determining credibility, jurors might apply to determine whether reasonable doubt existed as to whether a certain event had transpired or not (R 72-74).

Petitioner notes that the "instruction"<sup>2</sup> found to be fundamental error in this case, and in <u>Jones v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, was a <u>preliminary</u> statement made to prospective jurors before a jury was selected or sworn and before any evidence was taken. These potential jurors had no legal duty to heed the preliminary statements made prior to their being sworn as jurors. <u>United States v. Dilg</u>, 700 F. 2d 620, 625 (11th Cir. 1983). There is no legal basis to assume that they did follow these statements. Id.

Additionally, since the challenged comments were only made as "general principles for criminal cases," and the jury was instructed with the complete **standard** jury instructions on burden of proof and the presumption of innocence as part of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Because of the wording of the certified questions, Petitioner will refer to the preliminary comments as an instruction. However, Petitioner does not agree that these comments are equivalent to formal instructions given to the sworn jury.

preliminary instructions (R 68-69), prior to being selected as well as again prior to deliberations (R 363-364), the making of any unartful comments at this stage of the proceedings could at most be harmless error. Pietri v. State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1351 (Fla. 1994).

Even if these preliminary comments could somehow be considered equivalent to formal binding instructions on the jurors who were later selected and sworn, the decision under review is incorrect. In this case, as in <u>Jones</u>, the Fourth District held that a preliminary jury "instruction" on reasonable doubt constituted fundamental error because it indicated "absolute" or "one hundred percent" certainty was not required. 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242; <u>Jones</u>, 656 So. 2d at 490.

In <u>Victor v. Nebraska</u>, 511 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S. Ct. 1329, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994), the United States Supreme Court found no error in the following instruction:

'Reasonable doubt' is such doubt as would cause a reasonable and prudent person, in one of the graver and more important transactions of life, to pause and hesitate before taking the represented facts as true and relying and It is such a doubt as will acting thereon. not permit you, after full, fair, impartial consideration of all the evidence, to have an abiding conviction to a moral certainty, of the guilt of the accused. same time, absolute or mathematical certainty is not required. You may be

convinced of the truth of the fact beyond a reasonable doubt and vet be fully aware that possibly you may be mistaken. You may find an accused guilty upon strong probabilities of the case, provided such probabilities are strong enough to exclude any doubt of his quilt that is reasonable. A reasonable doubt is an actual and substantial doubt arising evidence, from the facts the circumstances shown by the evidence, or from the lack of evidence on the part of the state, as distinguished from a doubt arising from mere possibility, from bare imagination, or from fanciful conjecture.

Id. 127 L. Ed. 2d at 598 (italics in original, underlined emphasis added).

The challenged comments in the case at bar are not nearly as strong as the instructions in <u>Victor</u>, or for that matter, those in <u>Jones</u>. The trial judge's comment was an accurate statement of the law. It is undeniable that the reasonable doubt standard does not require absolute or one hundred percent certainty. It is also undeniable that absolute or one hundred percent certainty is an impossibility. In fact, if a prospective juror demands one hundred percent proof by the State, that is grounds to strike the prospective juror. <u>See Drew v. State</u>, 743 S. W. 2d 207, 209-10 (Tex.Cr.App. 1987) and cases cited therein (prospective juror properly struck by State where he said he would require "one hundred percent" proof as that level of proof exceeded the reasonable doubt standard); <u>Ruland v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 537, 538

(Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993)(same) and United States v. Hannigan, 27 F.3d 890, 894 n. 3 (3rd Cir. 1994) (reasonable doubt standard does not require 100 percent probability). The trial judge's statement at bar was completely accurate.

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