017

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	FILED
	AUG 12 1996
STATE OF FLORIDA,  Petitioner,	OLDERS, CORRESPONDENCE COURT  So Construction of the Construction
vs.	) CASE NO. 87,915
JAMES McINNIS,	{
Respondent.	<b>\( \)</b>

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

IAN SELDIN Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 604038 Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

Attorney for James McInnis

#

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

#### (c) The Timing of the Pre-Trial Instruction

Petitioner argues that the pre-trial timing of this erroneous instruction makes it harmless. Yet, it was given while the jurors were being qualified on their oaths. It not only instructed them, it emphasized the admonition and made what it said a part of their very qualification to serve in this case. The jury was pre-conditioned to understand the later jury instruction to mean what they had been qualified to understand it to mean. It would not matter if the judge read the standard instruction several times, without further advising them to affirmatively disregard what they had understood the "explanation" or "illustration" to mean earlier, the harm would not be erased. The admonitions during voir dire included a very direct admonition to apply nothing

stronger than something less than certainty while failing to convey any kind of moral certainty that is the hallmark of what the instruction seeks to convey and that the state's case must not be doubted unless Respondent presents evidence. The instruction and illustration were designed to ease the burden of conviction. The judge additionally specified that this same concept, or idea of what proof beyond a reasonable doubt means, would be expounded upon more fully during the final instructions thus linking these early instructions to what the jury would hear later. This is the opposite of correction and curing an erroneous instruction. The primacy of this explanation and the way in which it was stressed to a jury as a mistake they might make by applying too high a standard of proof destroyed the fairness of the proceeding.

The timing of the admonition does nothing to eliminate its harm. Accordingly, the later giving of the standard instructions were tainted earlier by the emphasis and the primacy of the non-standard explanation of the doubts that could remain for a verdict of guilty. The length of time this remained before the jury, as the entire case was tried, for ninety-percent of the jury's service was significant enough to be susceptible of overcoming a standard instruction when no warning was given to disregard what the jury had earlier been carefully admonished to believe when the standard instruction was heard.

#### (d) The Instruction Violates Prior Decisions of the Court

Respondent believes Petitioner is incorrect in stating that the instruction was correct as far as it went. For over 100 years, this Court has adhered to the rule that moral certainty is exactly what is meant by the state's burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in a criminal case. Beyond a reasonable doubt, and moral certainty, mean the same thing. The proof required is beyond a reasonable doubt, not simply to a reasonable doubt. Nothing less is permissible, and neither a tie nor a preponderance, not even a clear and convincing quantum of proof, go to the plaintiff in a criminal case.

The standard of proof is as fundamental to the principle that to try an incompetent defendant violates due process. Medina v. California, 505 U. S. 546, 453 (1992); <u>Drope v.</u>

Missouri, 420 U. S. 162, 171-172 (1975). Recently in Cooper v. Oklahoma, \_\_\_U. S. \_\_\_, (April 16, 1996), the Court engaged in a similar analysis to determine whether the standard of proof to prove incompetency is "so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental." Id., at \_\_\_\_, quoting Patterson v. New York, 432 U. S. 197, 202 (1977). Finding that the presumption of competence offends no fundamental principle, the Court held that the "more stringent the burden of proof a party must bear, the more that party bears the risk of an erroneous decision." Id., at \_\_\_\_, quoting Cruzan v. Director, Mo. Dept. of Health, 497 U. S. 261, 283 (1990).

The standard of proof is a basic concept rooted in our criminal justice system, and inherent in the individual protections afforded by our Constitutions. The Court stated, in <u>Cooper</u>, at \_\_\_\_, quoting from <u>Addington v. Texas</u>, 441 U. S. 418, 423 (1979):

The function of a standard of proof, as that concept is embodied in the Due Process Clause and in the realm of factfinding, is to instruct the factfinder concerning the degree of confidence our society thinks he should have in the correctness of factual conclusions for a particular type of adjudication.

Quoting In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358, 370 (1970) (Harlan, J., concurring).

This Court has a long ago adopted and has consistently adhered to requiring proper instruction to a jury of the standard, and burden, of proof in a criminal trial. In Lovett v. State, 30 Fla. 142, 11 So. 550 (1892), the Court considered in depth the necessary and correct instruction that should be given on reasonable doubt in a criminal trial. Formulating what has become Florida's long adhered to standard instruction, the Court recognized "the difficulty of defining a reasonable doubt" and utilizing what it termed "eminent judicial sources," framed the instruction used to this day. Most enlightening is the discussion in numerous cases teaching that it is an evaluative weighing by the jury to inform and convince their minds and consciences. After setting forth the instruction, much the same used today, the Court said in Lovett, 30 Fla. at 163, 11 So. at 554:

From what is said in the last preceding paragraph we think there will be no difficulty in the future in formulating a brief but

sufficient charge on the question of a reasonable doubt, adhering to the idea of it heretofore sanctioned by this court (<u>Earnest vs. State</u>, 20 Fla., 383), and avoiding any of the questionable expressions as to it.

Throughout our state's history, the Court has made clear that the standard of proof requires a conviction in the minds and conscience of the jurors, in <u>Lovett</u>, <u>supra</u>, 30 Fla. at 157-158. A conclusion formed after weighing all the evidence or circumstances "without being fully convinced of the correctness of the such conclusion" is "altogether insufficient for a conviction in a criminal case." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Woodruff v. State</u>, 31 Fla. 320, 12 So. 653 (1893), the Court, following <u>Lovett</u>, equated proof beyond a reasonable doubt to evidence or testimony evidence that "produces an abiding conviction to a moral certainty of the guilt of the accused [for] there is no reasonable doubt; whatever doubt may co-exist with such a state of proof is not reasonable. 31 Fla. at 337-338, 12 So. at 658. The Court in <u>Woodruff</u> held that it was permissible to use words equating "to a moral certainty" and an instruction could be correct without that phrase if, and conditioned upon, another expression of equivalent terms. Thus, the Court made clear that certainty, of a kind inherent in the nature of human affairs, is required. A proper instruction must, in substance be consistent with what has been approved by the Court. <u>Woodruff</u>, <u>supra</u> 31 Fla. at 337, 12 So. at 658. See also, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 220 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), holding that proof beyond a reasonable doubt and to "a moral certainty" are interchangeable and synonymous.

Respondent believes the district court was correct in holding that a court's admonition to a jury that it may have doubts and still find the defendant guilty, as well as to blindly accept prosecution testimony on its face, departs by conveying a contrary standard, less than proof to a moral certainty. It conveys lesser that risks a verdict that carries less than the confidence in a criminal conviction required by the Due Process Clause of both the Florida and United States Constitutions.

This Court in Archer v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S119 (Fla. March 14, 1996), stated the rule that "jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule" and that absent an

objection at trial an error can be raised on appeal "only if fundamental error occurred." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S120. Fundamental error is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Id. The Court quoted State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991), which quoted from Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960). In considering whether an instruction attempting to define what is reasonable doubt is fundamentally erroneous, the Court will affirm when there is "nothing misleading or confusing about the charge." McLeod v. State, 128 Fla. 35, 44, 174 So. 466, 469 (1937).

An instruction that indicates that certainty is not required or not to weigh evidence or doubt its veracity is misleading and confusing because it directs that something less than moral certainty in the minds of the jury can suffice to support a lawful verdict of guilt. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 90 Fla. 816, 107 So. 245 (1925). If a court decides to instruct that an "absolute metaphysical and demonstrative certainty," is not required, it is misleading to fail to inform the jury that certainty of a moral kind, of the nature inherent in human affairs is required. Simply put, guilt must be conclusive, a satisfactory conclusion to a moral certainty is essential. <u>Id. Asher v. State</u>, 90 Fla. 75, 105 So. 140 (1925).

To determine if a deviation is fundamental the Court has looked to whether harm could have "reasonably resulted." A misinstruction on reasonable doubt the error can be deemed fundamental and is not only when such substantial harm could not have reasonably resulted. Witherspoon v. State, 76 Fla. 445, 80 So. 61 (1918).

The flawed instruction made it likely that the jury could have reasonably perceived that it could disregard cross-examination testimony based its verdict solely on evidence elicited by the state, under circumstances wherein they were not necessarily certain that Respondent was guilty. The error in the instruction is therefore harmful constitutional error. It goes to the core Due Process interest in assuring the required burden of proof and level of confidence in criminal judgments and the district court should not be found in error in deciding that it was a

fundamental deviation necessitating a new trial.

As previously stated, the trial judge departed from the standard of proof by shifting the burden of persuasion when it admonished that a reason need be attached to any doubt considered reasonable. See, <u>Mullaney v. Wilbur, supra</u>. This in effect truncated the concept and suggested a test for either specific evidence of innocence or such a high level of doubt that approaches either a clear and convincing standard or whatever standard the jury actually determined short of the assuredness required.

In <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 141 Fla. 676, 194 So. 385 (1940), the Court stated that an instruction requiring a doubt to be "founded in reason" would be erroneous. Only when that language of attaching a reason to doubt is used is fully balanced with the requirement of proof satisfying the jury to a moral certainty in the guilt of the accused, has the Court affirmed or allowed a conviction to stand based upon such an instruction. There was no such balancing in the trial of Respondent. The Court in <u>Bryan</u>, said that a charge stating the following about being instructed as the one below as to the jury having to find "reason" in order to support a conclusion that the proof is not beyond a reasonable doubt:

If the charge had read, "A reasonable doubt is a doubt founded in reason. To be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt you must be so thoroughly convinced that you would act upon the conviction in the transaction of ordinary affairs of life," -- it would have possessed the infirmity complained of. See Lovett v. State, 30 Fla. 142, 11 So. 550.

Bryan, 141 Fla. at\_\_\_, 194 So. at 386. The Court distinguished instruction that a reasonable doubt is one "conformable to reason," and "that would satisfy a reasonable person," also erroneous but not so flawed as to be a fundamental error deviation. Kimball v. State, 134 Fla. 849, 184 So. 847 (1938). The important characteristic distinguishing fundamental from simple error may be the inclusion of words signifying certainty, such as "to a moral certainty" that was contained in the Kimball instruction. That is the key concept, one of certainty, that was diminished in the proceedings below by the expressed instruction that tended toward confusion by equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a definite or quantum of proof. This is true

of the elements, but it is not true of the jury's inherent decision of the convincing nature of that proof. This Court has disapproved similar expressions that tend to diminish or relax the high level of confidence expected. See also, <u>Hulst v. State</u>, 123 Fla. 315, 166 So. 828 (1936).

At bar, the trial judge abandoned both requirement by misstating the standard and going further and giving a definition of the term that further strayed from the moral certainty that the term embodies. This is the kind of fundamental error the Court has ruled will be reviewed directly on an appeal, and the court below did not err in considering the issue.

The departures from the instructions utilized for over a century, as shown by the various cases in which several judges of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit have also ventured into an ad hoc but routine demonstration to ease the jury's concern with the strictures of the burden of proof show the dangers of such personal admonishments on the law. In <u>Bove v. State</u>, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D709 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 1996), the same trial judge as involved in the instant case instructed that "we do not use the scales of justice in a criminal courtroom. There is no proper percentage to begin to figure out when a defendant can properly be found guilty or when he is not guilty." Such a drastic departure devastates any later instruction on reasonable doubt and instead replaces the burden and standard of proof with an unstructured whatever feels right, probability judgment as if any other considerations that may be involved in the case are of equal stature with the proof requirement. The extent to which the deviations occur necessitate this Court to require adherence to the standard method of instructing on this important matter and to permit the district court of appeal to guard this right as it did below. The danger to the entire system of justice is that there would be a different standard of proof in differing circuits, or courtrooms, if judges are making their own personal views of reasonable doubt to convey to a jury. The place for explanation is closing argument, and even there the proper statement of the law is required. Respondent urges the Court to view this issue as an unacceptable attempt to sway the standard beyond its strictness in requiring the jury to have that state of mind of moral certainty to a pragmatic appraisal of the whether there is proof on all the elements of the crime

and on the strength of the probabilities. As the district court stated in <u>Jones</u>, the instruction tells a jury that a remarkable strong probability is sufficient.

The fundamental nature of an incorrect or inadequate instruction, tending to mislead a jury about the burden and standard of proof in a criminal trial, has been considered by this Court of such importance to the essential interests of justice that it is considered fundamental. Bennett v. State, 127 Fla. 759, 173 So. 817 (1937). In Bennett, although a capital case, the Court stated the rule that when essential rights are deprived or invaded, the appellate court will consider whether a fair trial was denied by the error, Id. 127 Fla. at 762-763, 173 So. at 819:

The record shows that no exception was taken to the instruction when given nor was it assigned as error, but it is argued in the brief. Inasmuch as this charge of the court complained of involved instructions pertaining to the fundamental rights of the defendant who was being tried at that time on a charge of murder in the first degree, a capital offense, we will consider the correctness of the instruction, though it was not excepted to below nor assigned as error. See Gunn v. State, 78 Fla. 599, 83 So. 511.

In the exercise of its power to do so, an appellate court will consider questions not raised or reserved in the trial court when it appears necessary to do so in order to meet the ends of justice or to prevent the invasion or denial of essential rights. The court may, as a matter of grace, in a case involving deprivation of life or liberty, take notice of errors appearing upon the record which deprived the accused of substantial means of enjoying a fair and impartial trial, although no exceptions were preserved, or the question is imperfectly presented.

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